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o fornecimento de crédito avangado pelos mercadores e funcionarios de Goa.
Assim, quer os capitais quer as mercadorias eram especificados em obrigagdes,
tal como o seu pagamento era feito mediante recibos. Essa situagdo é ilustrada
pelas diversas obriga¢des passadas pelo governador de Mogambique Francisco de
Melo e Castro a Brito Freire e pelos recibos entregues por este ao seu procurador,
D. Luis Caetano de Almeida, quando a divida foi paga!84,

Ademais, se bem que apenas algumas contas apare¢am discriminadas,
note-se que Brito Freire mantinha aberto o registo das suas transac¢des com
outros individuos, as “folhas de contas”, anotando os valores avancados por ele
em bens ou moeda a par do quantitativo relativo ao produto das mercadorias
recebidas!®’. Ou seja, era seguido o principio da compensagdo reciproca nos
negdcios, cujo saldo a data do seu regresso a Lisboa ele enviou aos seus agentes
e associados em Mogambique e nos Rios de Sena. Esse tipo de contabilidade é
sugerido pelas informagdes relativas as duas folhas contas mantidas com Roberto
de Magalhdes. Uma era relativa a sociedade de negdcios de ambos e a outra
respeitava a actividade de Brito Freire enquanto procurador de Magalhdes em
Goa quando ele foi governar os Rios de Sena, incluindo ai as remessas de ouro,
prata, cobre e escravos feitas a partir de Sena!8.

Do mesmo modo, as contas pendentes com o ajudante do tenente-general dos
Rios de Sena, Jodo Crisdéstomo, foram minuciosamente registadas. O empréstimo
concedido por Brito Freire foi saldado com ouro enviado dos Rios de Sena. E ao
capital em divida e aos juros de 35% foram acrescentados os fretes e os direitos
pagos pelo ouro vendido em Goa, bem como o capital liquidado ao corretor
Bexiga e a despesa com as missas mandadas celebrar pelo vedor a pedido de
Crisostomo. O saldo de 105 cruzados a favor de Criséstomo foi pago pelo agente
Antdnio Correia Monteiro de Matos, da quantia em seu poder resultante da venda
da cera enviada pelo vedor para a ilha de Mogambique'®’. Enfim, a utiliza¢do
de varias formas de registo dos negdcios estava divulgada para além dos meios
estritamente mercantis.

184 Carta de Antonio de Brito Freire para Francisco de Melo e Castro, 24 de Janeiro de 1752,
BPADE, céd. CXV-1-31, fls. 46v-47.

185 Ver, por exemplo, Carta de Ant6nio de Brito Freire para Roberto Homem de Magalhaes,
15 de Janeiro de 1751, BPADE, c6d. CXV-1-31, fls. 40-45; Carta de Antonio de Brito Freire para
Jodo Crisostomo, 24 de Janeiro de 1752, BPADE, c6d. CXV-1-31, fls. 50-51.

186 Carta de Anténio de Brito Freire para Roberto Homem de Magalhdes, 15 de Janeiro de
1751, BPADE, céd. CXV-1-31, fls. 40-45; Carta de Antonio de Brito Freire para Roberto Homem
de Magalhdes, 26 de Janeiro de 1752, BPADE, c6d. CXV-1-31, fls. 52-53.

187 Declaragdo, 22 de Janeiro de 1752, BPADE, cod. CXV-1-31, fls. 48v-49; Carta de Antonio
de Brito Freire para Jodo Crisdstomo, 24 de Janeiro de 1752, BPADE, c6d. CXV-1-31, fls. 50-51.
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Interest in loaning, was dependent on the nationalities of people and ships. This
variety seems to come from the strength of these vessels and the trustworthiness
of the merchants. In Portuguese cases, the interest was always less than 40%.
The Chinese had a wide range of interest between 40% and 80%, and interest
levels in Japanese trade, ranged from 35 to 50%.

According to the documents in existence, I can point out that Hakata mer-
chants were the group with the most concern in this investment, because the port
of Hakata had ceased to function as it had once done in the 15% and 16t centu-
ries. The Shimai family in particular (B53£%) took a leading part in investment
by Hakata merchants, and the descendants of the Shimai family still conserve
some of these bonds written in Portuguese, Japanese, and Chinese, during the
first half of 17 century.

At the outset the definitive character of respondéncia, is the exemption
from responsibility of payment in case of ship wrecks. Secondly the interest
could be increased by 10% in the case of a delay of more than 1 year in trade
between Japan and China. Both elements are absolutely related with ship plying.
We could say that investment in Nagasaki trade was one of the only ways for

them to survive.
2. Historical Process Concerning Respondéncia

In the Portuguese Indian State, Estado da India Portuguesa, debit and credit
with extremely high rates of interest, had been prohibited. The first ban, as far as
we can confirm, was promulgated in 1610 by the viceroy in Goa.?

A similar system of respondéncia would be used by Italian merchants who
resided in Lisbon and who already had trading enterprises in the 16t century.
This style of high-risk, high-return investment with maritime insurance, was
very common in Mediterranean trade in 15 century, particularly in cities like
Marseille and Genova.’ It seems to be natural that this kind of investment was
introduced into Portuguese Asian trade, especially in the East Asian area, with
the big fortunes which could be brought in by the silk-silver trade.

It’s also interesting to note, that this ban in Macao was imposed once again
when the first official governor sent from Estado da India, Dom Francisco Mas-
carenhas, arrived in Macao in 1623.

He declared punishment on respondéncia debtors in 1624, in several
political and economic reforms which he carried out.4 However, the investment
went on and lead to a monstrous bankruptcy in Nagasaki trade.

=S

2 Rui Lourengo de Tavora, April 27, 1610, Biblioteca da Ajuda, Jesuitas na Asia, 49-V-3,

f1. 28.
3C. F. Trennery, The Origin and Early History of Insurance including the Contracl of

Bottomry, London, 1926.
4 C. R. Boxer, The Great Ship from Amacon (first published in 1959 Lisbon).
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[Doc. 1] April 11, 1633, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Tristdo Tavares

(Arquivo Historico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N.529, ff.18-19v.
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 3, p.123)

(...) em como este anno se pagardo e despenderdo em Japdo para a libertagdo
do cabedal 28,300 taeis dos 66,600 taeis que o Feitor Agostinho Lobo tinha
tomado a responder, a fora os 12,000 taeis que ficou devendo o Feitor pas-
sado Francisco Lis Velho pello que pedido a suas merces que dessem ordens
para a dita quantia dos ditos 28,300 taeis se pagassem, pois havido de hir
empregados a Japdo nesta viagem que se havia de fazer de maneira que por
mais votos do povo junto foi acordado e asentando, que do dinheiro que tinha
vindo do dito Japdo no navio S.Jorge, se tirasse a dita quantia para o paga-
mento dos ditos 28,300 taeis e de como assi disserdo (...).

This document itself doesn’t reveal the details about what happened then
and there. But it talks about some important facts. It was written in April 1633.
We have to contend with the fact that they are talking about the commercial
voyage to Japan in 1632, because annual voyage from Macao to Japan used to be
held from late summer (departure from Macao)to late autumn (arrival at Macao).
In the voyage in 1632, Feitor'® Agostinho Lobo had received an amount of
respondéncia silver equating to 66,600 taels in total, from Japanese merchants.
But 28,300 taels of this silver had to be used to relieve “cabedal (capital)” which
had been taken as security in Japan. We shall return to the reason why Feitor
Lobo had received such a big amount of silver later. However, the question
related to the significance of the “cabedal” is dealt with now.

According to C. R. Boxer, in 1631 two Captain Majors from Macao, Dom
Gongalo de Silveira and Antonio Oliveira Aranha, had been caught in Nagasaki
with their ship Sao Jorge, for large sums of non-paid silver owed by Portuguese
merchants in Macao. The authorities in Japan ordered the Portuguese to clear
their debts, if they wanted to see both Captains return alive.!! The Portuguese
in Macao had to find a way of scraping up enough silver to repay the Japanese
merchants. [Doc.1] is apparently related to the accident of these two Captain
Majors, caught in Nagasaki and their ship Sao Jorge. This document explains
how they found the means to pay the silver and to keep the trade between Naga-
saki and Macao!? afloat. Initially, the Macao government borrowed silver in
the sum of 12,000 taels from a former Captain Francisco Lis Velho. Later, they
decided to use 28,300 taels from silver, which were borrowed on respondéncia
for the sake of Macao city, at the hands of Feitor Agostinho Lobo in the same

10 This position means a person next to the Captain Major, and he treats negotiation directly

with Japanese.
' C. R. Boxer, The Great Ship..., pp.124-125.
12 C. R. Boxer, “Notes on the Portuguese Trade...”, p.14.
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year. This means that some part of the newly borrowed silver in 1632, was used
for compensation to repay past debts on respondéncia. The relieved Sdo Jorge on
arrival at Macao, in April 163313, therefore this document might have been made

soon after the arrival of the ship.

[Doc. 2] December 19, 1635, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Gaspar Coelho

(Arquivo Historico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, f. 28v.
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 2, pp. 17-18)

(...) por todos elles foi asentado e determinado que da prata que Baltazar de
Abreu de Vasconsellos tinha no goddo de Gaspar Borges da Fonseca a onde se
recolheo toda que veyo de Japdo nos 3 navios desta viagem se lhe entregasse
aquella quantia que se achar e claramente constar ser diretamente (ilegivel)
e de suas partes na conformidade dos fretes e direitos que no dito Japdo fez;
e aque como he dito por outra qualquer via diretamente mostrar pertencer
lhe e no que houver divida como ha em muita della fique no mesmo godio
ou em outro qualquer deposito que para ser conveniente para dali se entregar
a pessoa ou pessoas que a empreguem para por via desta Cidade ou delles
ditos eleitos se levar o dito emprego e delle se satisfazer aos Japdens cuja
for e pertencer e a que restar depois delles satisfeitos se trara a esta Cidade
para nella se despender nas obras de sua fortificagdo e sendo cazo que falte
alguma prata para a satisfagdo dos ditos Japoens, e o que se achou nédo ser
bastantes, ficara o dito Baltazar de Abreo de Vasconsellos obrigado a satis-

fagdo de tudo o que faltar (...).

As far as [ know, Boxer has not quoted this document in any of his stud-
ies on respondéncia. To understand the description here, we should go back to
see chapter 2 in this paper. As [ have said there, in 1635 borrowing silver from
Japanese was prohibited by the financial administrator of Macao. But even in
this year, many of Portuguese who went to Japan borrowed new silver there,
However, the sum of past debts, had still not been cleared off.'4 In [Doc.2] it is
clear that a man named Baltazar de Abreu de Vasconsellos had borrowed Japa-
nese silver on respondéncia in spite of the prohibition. The Macao government
then decided to confiscate this silver from him and let other merchants carry on
business with this silver. Had there been any silver surplus to requirements, they
had intended to use it for the fortification of the city. This is only an example of
the fact that loaning was ongoing even under the official prohibition.

I have considered these two documents just to point out the importance of
documents in Arquivos de Macau, to analyse the economic system in the trade
between Japan and Macao and the situation related to the system of respon-
dencia in 1630’s. Now we will analyse the bonds themselves.
-_-___-_____'_-_‘—————.

:j &NR)T?“O)Z:,,Z}: Great Sflip..., p.A 128.
> as Mongées..., Livro 35, fls. 285-286v.
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4. The Bonds of Respondéncia and the Structures in 2 Types of Bankruptcy

In the following tables ahead, I would like to show some dezn}s of th;s
system from existing bonds contracted between the Portuguese anb ape:rlletshé
There are several documents which refer to other cases of contlrac?sk etweS o
Japanese and Portuguese merchants [Taplel]. But here I would like to simply
focus on the information shown by existing bonds [Table2].

[TaBLE 1] The Records of Respondéncia by Portuguese Merchants

[note] Date means the date of the document itself, not the date of the contract

15
| 1 [1624 Dec, 28 D. Carvalho Japanese BPADE!S . | unknown
12 [1626A ,3 F. Darrias Oga Soku + 6 Japanese BPADE, LM 6 X
T )
!' 3 |1627 NZV 5 R. Sanchez Suetsugu Sotoku Suetsugu'’ x
B (R.Sanchez | g
I' 4 |1631Jul20 M. Pereira Shimai Gonbei Shimai '8 x ‘
I 5 | 1632Nov 16 A. Lobo Nakano Hikobei, Suetsugu half
l Takagui Goroemon AM "
‘ i AM unknown
| 6 |1633April Lourengo Lis. Velho | Japanese
|1 (Contracts made in 1632) = -
7a 11633 Oct 16 Fco. Carvalho Shimai Gonbei
I 76 | 1636 Nov 13 Fco. Carvalho Shimai and other Japanese AM
o h
(Contracts made in 1633) = -
| 8 | 1635, 0ct, 25 Sailors hired by Japanese
: (Contracts made in 1632-34) L. Sarmento Carvalho — -
. 9 |1635 Dec 19 B. Vasconsellos Japanese :
} 10 | 1637 Nov 6 T. Tavares, A. Mancio | Nakano Hikobei, Suetsugu
Ito Kozaemon
LM unknown
111 | 1638 Jan 4 M. Moraes Japanese L
l Suet Sotok Suetsugu
[ 12a 1638 0ct 6 Ferz. Carvalho uetsugu Sotoku |
Ir—l 2b | 1638 Dec 22 Ferz.Carvalho l Japanese AM
I- 13 | 1638 Oct 16 L. Ferreira, P. Crasto | Nakano Hikobei Suetsugu
s J Oga Doku
14 {1638 Oct 18 J. Pereira Nakano Hikobeiand other | Suetsugu
C .
]\ 5 Japanese
T (g I

e o
1s BPADE=Biblioteca Publica Arquivo Distrital de Evora, Cod. CX\{I/Z'-S. . -
16 LM=IAN/TT, Livro das Mongoes ou Documentos Remetidos da India, Livro 55, TIs.

260v and Livro 41, fls. 167v.-169. . o .
17 Syetsugu=Documents of Suetsugu Family (RKZFE XL E), hand copy belonging

1 i i i ity of Tokyo. .
riographical Institute, University O . —_—
18 Shimai=Documents of Shimai Family (B35 30E), hand copy belonging

graphical Institute, University of Tokyo.
19 AM =Arquivos de Macau.

o Histo-
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[TaBLE 2] Bonds belonging to Japanese Merchants

o - : -

’_ﬂ‘“e 1627 1631 1632 1633 1637 1638 1638 1638 1638

=t | Novs Jul 20 Nov 16 | Oct 16 Nov 6 Oct 6 Oct 16 Oct 18 Oct 25

T

L . . : Leonardo

N Rod . Ant . ao. a

I!B odrigo Miguel ntonio Francisco Tristdo. | Fernandez Marinho Joa.o o
ebtor | Sanchez . Lobo Tavares | Carvalho Pereira | Luis Dias

] i Pereira . Carvalho . ; Pedro .

% | Paredes (Feitor) AMancio | (Feitor) (Capitdo)

= Crasto

|i--'&lJ Individual | Individual City .. .. City .. City -

L"d ndividual | Individua Macao Individual | Individual Macao Individual Macao Individual

, k'i'ifaunl 7500 500 3000 5000 4000 4000 3000 15000 500

I L taels taels taels taels taels taels taels taels taels

nterest | 30% | unknown | 33% | unknown | 38% 25% 28% 25% 2%

Source | Suetsugu | Shimai | Suetsugu | Shimai | Suetsugu | Suesugu | Suetsugu | Suetsugu | Kyo
L_, (Hakata) | (Hakata) | (Hakate) | (Hakata) | (Hakata) | (Hakata) | (Hakata) | (Hakata) | (Hakata)

The houses which had been keeping these bonds, were powerful merchants
in Hakata. The Suetsugu family had been one of the new rich merchants in Hakata
16th century, although the most famous men in this family were four Suetsugu
Heizo (RWKEJE), the Nagasaki Daikan (governors of Nagasaki). Suetsugu
Heizo was the hereditary name and Japanese historians used to distinguish them
by their own private names, the first Masanao (E{|f); the second Shigesada
(7€ &), the third Shigefusa (%3 ), the fourth Shigetomo (J%#). The first Heizo
Masanao had father Suetsugu Kozen (RIKH =) and elder brother Suetsugu
Sotoku (A K 7<{E), who lived in Hakata running their business. But this family
kept strong ties with Nagasaki city, the most flourishing port city in Japan then
through Heizd. As we can confirm in Table 2, it is possible to guess that the
Suetsugu family in Hakata, were the biggest creditor for Portuguese merchants.2°

Similarly to the Suetsugu family, the Shimai family (& #5), was also one

of the biggest creditors for Portuguese merchants. This family had also been
one of the most prosperous merchants in Hakata. A distinguishing character of
the Shimai family in relation to the Suetsugu family, is that of being relatives
of other powerful Hakata merchants like Kamiya (##/2) and Oga (K&). As
a well known fact, Hakata had been a city of autonomy by merchants, not by
feudal rulers since the middle of the 16™ century. Since the connection of lineage
between these merchants was very strong, Shimai could be a representative in
the loan of silver to the Portuguese by other Hakata merchants.2!

20 About the relationship between Suetsugu and Portuguese, see my past article; Mihoko Oka
“A Great Merchant in Nagasaki in 17 Century-Suetsugu Heizo and the system of respondéncia”,
Bulletin of Portuguese Japanese Studies, vol. 2, CHAM, UNL, 2001,

_2' Yukinobu Koyama, “Shoki Nagasaki Sijo ni okeru Shonin Shihon”, Chuo Daigaku
Daigakuin Kenkya Nenpo, vol.21, 1991.
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The rate of interest ranges between 25%-38%. The .low.estl g;g t?}i:ozrrz\git
ing by Captain Major and Feitor for the sake of Macao city in .1 ce
' l}llthese people might have made would have been possible to loa =
r(/)}\l;(;r interest. However, the investments by Japanese merchan':is h;ld ;(e)\r/te: oo
recovered because this was practically the last year of the tra ef t{le tradg N
I Nagasaki and Macao. In 1639, the final year of th : iy
e e o e confined in Deshima (artificial island construc?ed in Nagasaki
il =T ese residence). They were allowed no contact w.1th thg Japanese
i Potrl:ugu ermitted to unload any of their merchandise, mcludmg goods
bor Werle) - I:ma’éncia silver.2? It is certain that the contracts made 1n 163’8
Eoggnh;t b}c;ei;lei:}:)mpleted and remained bonds themselves in Jgpar213<3§e mercllarl:(tjis-
h?)uses. According to Japanese historians su((j:li a; K::;:srguflvl:;; tilte\)\(/;sb ?S radv
i i at bonds were used to be :
tcll(::l:rlle((i:u;g) n"lflllrilsjflll)::r;/h explains that these remaini;)ghb%nc;i we::i i:)/l;i:;acsecs)i
' e think about the sum of the debt oW
rrf:r—cclizxzitdtiitsehygf tr;l:/ trade, it is clear that they are merely a part of the total

amount.

Individual debt

According to the combined information from Arquiwis df Macau and these
bonds, the two structures of debt can be (.:onﬁ?med more c ela;.r y:t N
B’ond no.4 is not a bond on borrowing silver speglﬁca' Y, }I el
of testimony on delay of payment. It can be summarized 1é1ht. eai il
tences; 1. Francisco Carvalho had borrowed 700 t.aels fromd - im o o
past/ 2, In 1633, he says it 1s impossfi;)’le ;o S::S 1tH (;fr'i; ;1:15 dele)tczg jikeriytg
it oft in L
‘IIYI?:&}SVC;(;H;: izlp(gttch\?rrz::nsfop\fsy his debt sz incredibly larger in total.

[Doc. 3] November 13, 1636, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Gaspar
Coelho
55
(Arquivo Historico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, f. 3
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 3, p. 143)
(...) foi proposto ao dito povo que Francisco Carvalho o Velh0,~deve(lijcr)é 332
e.r.a. de 20,000 e tantos taeis a este povo, que elle pagou em Japao, SO

i 01 ene S€0S
>

I ———

] 0.
22 C. R. Boxer, The Great Ship-.., p.16 )
23 Kentaro Shiba, “Nijchioubun Naguegane Shoumon no Kousatsu”,

vol. 17-1, 2, 1937.

Shakai Keizai Shi gaku,
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acabavdo na viagem que se ha de fazer o anno que vem de 637 annos, e que
o dito Francisco Carvalho offerecia e pedia lhe aceitassem agora de prezente
14,300 e tantos que era o que de seu tinha (...).

This document shows that Francisco Carvalho had debts amounting to more
than 20,000 taels at the time in 1636. It means that 700 taels in 1633, was only
a small part of the whole debt. He must have owed to other Japanese merchants

at the same time. He was helped to clear his debt by his “fiadores™ and offered
them 14,300 taels in return and thanked them.

[Doc. 4] November 13, 1639, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Simdo Vaz
Paiva

(Arquivo Historico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, ff. 36-36v.
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 2, pp. 125-126)

(...) e bem e conservagdo desta cidade e seus moradores assentardo que se
langasse hum pregao para que o dito Tristdo Tavares em vinte e quatro horas
se aprezentasse nesta Caza da Camara pera dar satisfag@o a dita termo de

vinte e quatro horas, fosse executado em todos os seus que fossem achados
e suas cazas fossem arazadas (...)

This decision [Doc. 4] by Macao parliament was made 12 days after another
decision, which ordered that all citizens in Macao who owed to Japanese mer-
chants, should ensure they had enough silver to pay back within 6 days.2* In the
decision, Tristdo Tavares was sentenced to prepare and return all silver which
he owed to the Japanese. He had been in charge of the escrivdo of the parlia-
ment during 1631-1634 as we can confirm his name in a variety of parliamentary
documents in Arquivos de Macao. It means that he was one of the most influen-
tial citizens of Macao. In the bond no.5, he borrowed 5,000 taels from Hakata
merchants [td Kozaemon and Nakano Hikobei at 38% of interest in 1637 when
he took part in a commercial voyage to Japan. Then his younger brother Luis
Tavares who had been in charge as interpreter of the governmental office of
Nagasaki (£ 7£1T) guaranteed the payment. It may be possible to point out
that Tristdo Tavares was ordered to pay first, to be a role model for other Macao
citizens due to his high status.

In the same year, the Portuguese had already been told not to come to
Japan anymore, but were still planning to go to Japan the following year and ask
for trade to be re-opened bringing some payment of invested silver. Therefore
they had to go on gathering silver to repay the Japanese. It is worth pointing
out that two cases mentioned above are apparently individual debt. However, 3
[Table 2, no. 3, 6, 8] of existing bonds shows, that there was another type of
borrowing method that is, on behalf of the whole of Macau city.

2 Arquivos de Macau, vol. 2, pp. 123-124.
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Intensive debts

In bond no.3, Agostinho Lobo had receiyed 3,000 taglz at 33;?()) I:)f Flrll':trl:i
1 Hakata merchants, Nakano Hiokobe1 and Takagul oroe h urher
ot t‘;o ki governor Suetsugu Heizo (at the same time he was the lﬁg _
r(?fO:}?f’: N?;s;ki ilerchants) says that he had trusted 10,000 taels to A.Lobo 1n

around 1632.

[Doc. 5] November

Government
(Biblioteca de la Real Academi
9-7239(2), ff. 433-434v.) | y

(..) Os dex mil taeis que mandei por Feitor Agostinho Lopo, d(zz qeuzz ;e;fno

(;{r;co mil taeis empregados em seda .conforme o conhecimen

queria mandar também os dez mil taeis do meu baque (...)

15t 1634, A Letter from Suetsugu Heizo to Macau

a de la Historia, Madrid, Legajo

it 1 was
From a document in the Arquivos de Macau, it is clear that Lobo

. i
the Japanese on behalf of Macau City in 1632. As we haveha(ljretz:dr};os\flzlz1 i, r
[Doc. 1]above this contract was an intensive one and.Lobo1 (ail bo -
been ‘trusted J’apanese silver amounting to 66,000 taels in total durng

[Doc. 6] June 25 1632, Archive of Macau Assembly, by Tristdo Tavares

i istori Macau

(Arquivo Historico de ,
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 3, pp. 115-116)

i 1 a dad

) visto estar esta cidade tdo carregada ¢ .
E)od)er alliviar dellas por n@o ter nenhuma ajuda mais, (...) assent

itor de Jap@o
ordem e lembranga ao Feitor
prata a responder, por prego, que conforme o estado da

aresp
haver ganhos para pagar . : om q!
possio aliviar, contasse até quantia de sincoenta mil taeis (...)

According to [Doc. 6], it i pqsmble to
and trusted silver by Suetsugu He}zf? was a
intensive borrowing is not only limited ~1n 163 :
well. In this case, Captain Major Dom Jodo Pereira

Carvalho (no. 6). signed contracts

[Doc. 7] December 22, 1638, Archive of Macau Assembly,
Paiva
(Arquivo Histérico de Macau, A0216 Le
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 2, p. 65)

(...) como de Japio mandardo trazer este ditto anno pel
Pé;lro Fernandez de Carvalho, quantidade de prata a respon

A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, ff. 17-18v.

e dividas, e impossibilitada de se
ardo se desse

pera achando nos mercadores Japdes
feira, prometesse

ondéncia, e ficar com que as ditas dividas se

guess that the contract in bond no. 3
part of this total amount. A case of
2. It was contracted in 1638 as
(no. 8) and Feitor Femandez

by Simio Vaz
al Senado N. 529, ff. 52-52v.

lo feitor do povo
der, para com ella
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se comprar a seda para o baque da pancada, visto que os moradores desta dita
cidade acodido mal com a quantia, que se lhe baqueava e assi hia tdo pouca
quantidade, que os Japdes o tamavdo tdo mal, que poderia vir a ser de muito
prejuizo a venda das mais fazendas.

In bond no. 6, Fernandez Carvalho received 4,000 taels at 25% of interest,
but he was actually nominated as a representative of Macau City to borrow silver
on respondéncia for the entire city. As a result, he could now get silver amounting
to 97,000 taels for Macau city. Captain Major Dom Jodo Pereira at the same
time received 15,000 taels from a group of Hakata merchants also on behalf of
Macau city. However, the bonds show there were at least 2 cases of individual
borrowing on respondéncia in this year. One is signed by Leonard Marinho
and Pedro Crasto, another is by Luis Dias. We can be fairly certain that there
were many other contracts made between individual Portuguese and Japanese
merchants though there is no existing proof except for a description regarding
respondéncia by the Portuguese in this year, written by a man of VOC.?’ | have
shown only a few examples which can be made clear by a combination of bonds
and other different kinds of documents. There is no doubt about the existence of
many further cases of respondéncia contracts between the Portuguese and Japa-
nese. However, only few documents in existence, can show us some details now.

5. The Circulation of Japanese Silver in East Asia

As a further issue to ponder, how had the Portuguese acquired such a large
amount of bankruptcy? Boxer describes “ the debtors at Macau placed the blame
on the Chinese traders of Canton, whom they accused of defaulting on their
contracts for the required supplies of silk, thus leaving the Macau merchants
with insufficient cargoes for Japan™.?® This description is based on a letter by
Portuguese Gaspar Barboza Pereira to a Japanese merchant Shimai Gombei in

20 July 1631, explaining the reason why some Portuguese who were indebted to
him, could not pay on time.?’

Although this is not the only case which places blame on the Chinese
traders. I’ve included a few interesting facts here which suggest we should con-
sider other cases. In 1624, Hakata merchants accused a Portuguese merchant,
Ferndo Darrias of his bankruptcy to the Macau governor.

25 See chapter 2.
% C. R. Boxer, The Great Ship ..., pp. 125-126.
27C. R. Boxer, “Notes on the Portuguese Trade...”.
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[Doc. 8] April 3, 1626, A Letter from Seven Merchants to Macao Government
(Biblioteca Publica e Arquivo Distrital de Evora. C6d.CXV1/2-5,
fls. 274-274v.)

E tdo bem notdrio e pelo conseguinte a V.M. em como nos demos cantidade

de dinheiro a responder e a for ndo Darrias por entdo ndo ser tam prohibido

este trato de respondéncias como o he ire. E he também assim notério como
elle por perdas que teve. E aqui todos os mercadores estamos sugeitos nos
ndo mandou pagar, porque se v€ imposibilitado para o poder fazer. Pedimos

a VM. o consinta vir a Japdo para assim ter algum remédio e nos esperanga

de um algum tempo virmos pagos. E damos a V.M. nossa palavra de ndo

balirmos com elle nem he pedirmos que nos pague sendo quando elle boa-
mente puder, antes o ajudaremos com o que pudermos para que assim elle

sera remediado. (...) Nangasaqui a 3 de Abril de 1626.

(Japanese Signatures) Fi%/NZEFFT (Ito Kozaemon/WS)
BARRC = BRRPY (Takaguiya Saburo-emon/WS)

& & RRR (Itoya Sokaku/ST) 7 & 5 B2 L (Hirado Martinho/ST)
WRIIT 5 (Kusuriya Miguel/WS) KEFI (Oga Soku/WS)

A B EBZ (Arimaya; deficit /WS)

* WS =written seal, ST=stamp

Looking at the part pertaining to signatures by 7 Japanese merchants, we

can confirm the names of famous merchants, Ito Kozaemon and Oga Soku.
There are probably another Hakata merchant Takaguiya who was related to these
two big merchants, and one is apparently a Hirado merchant. Moreover, we can
confirm the names of 3 Nagasaki merchants, including one red seal ship trader
Itoya. Ito Kozaemon ({Ff#&/N/=#F9) was a well known Hakata merchant and
was the son-in-law of Suetsugu Sotoku. He was a creditor of the contract no.10
(Tablel) =no.5 (Table2). It is clear that he had been one of the frequent creditors
in Hakata for the Portuguese as well as Oga Soku (Doku) (K& = ). It is said
that Oga is a family who had served to a christian daimyo (feudal lord) Otomo
Sorin (K& 7=28%) in 16t century Bungo. However, Otomo had become one of
the vassals of the Tokugawa family, after losing land and vassals passed down
from their ancestors since the opening of the Tokugawa regime(1603). Oga was a
newly arrived merchant in Hakata, but they survived as purveyors of the Kuroda
family (lord of Hakata ordered by the Tokugawa regime) up until the end of the
regime. Oga Soku was a creditor in the contracts no.13 and 14 in Table 1 =the
bonds no.7and 8 in Table 2. His activity was also supported by a group of lineage
of Suetsugu family. It is not clear about the other creditors of Ferndo Darrias,
but it is quite possible that this investment was organized by a group of Hakata

merchants united by a lineage.

Darrias seems to have placed the blame on the Macao government for the
prohibition to receive silver on respondéncia. Therefore, Hakata merchants sent
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this letter to the Macao government to permit trading, in order to be able to
repay him.

After 10 years, his name suddenly appears in a report sent to the viceroy of
Goa from Macao including the reason why he became bankrupt.

[Doc. 9] October 25, 1635, A Letter from Manuel Ramos to the Viceroy
of India

Arquivos Nacionais/Torre do Tombo, Livro das Mongdes ou
Documentos Remetidos da India, Livro 35, fls. 259-260).

(...) Aqui vive Ferndo Darrias de Morais, muito pobre mas ndo de honra e
procedimento, foi a Japdo ha muitos annos, trouxe de la alguma prata dos
Japdes entregou-a aqui a um china para lha empregar em Cantéo, o qual que-
brou com (ilegivel) elle tdo aprimorado que sendo Capitdo Geral D. Francisco
Mascarenhas lhe foi dar conta do sucedido, e se foi meter no tronco € vendeu
tudo o que tinha para pagar e assim ficou (ilegivel) como estd de maneira
que aceita ir por Capitdo das feiras a Cantdo, por hum saldrio ordendrio dis q
V. Exa. O conhece, e lhe deseja fazer mercés este he o tempo em que tem bem

necessidade delas (...)

N The rep:f)rt says “The Chinese that he had given silver credit to, had broken
el contract. It‘ suggests that Darrias borrowed silver from a Japanese merchant
t9 oanM to a Cthese merchant and was taking a tragic risk. However, D. Fran
C1sco Mascarenhas had ordered him to re by :
. pay the Japanese [
all of his properties. ’ d .
. MIn addition to this fact, Manuel Ramos, Administrator of Royal Property
in X acao states as follows: “The Japanese used to lend silver to the Portuguese
wit tmtgrzsthbetween 28% and 30%, at a maximum of 35%, however, this silver
was traded here in Macao again with i , ,
fros e gain with interest of between 45% and 50% and
- [ may'conclude-that one of the reasons for the huge bankruptcy of the
thor ugule(:se in Macao is related to the unstable relationship with the Chinese and
W;rrlllar et in Quan.don.g. Hoyvever here, I would like to explain one more case
ich had a dynamic dimensional relationship in Asia pertaining to silver.

[Doc. 10] June 7, 1631, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Tristio Tavares

(Arquivo Histérico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, ff. 10-10v
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 1, pp. 303-304) ’ .

(.. 1\,)1 que o Juiz Sebastido de Almeida teve acerca destas respondéncias fosse
a Manilla nem a Japio nem outra qualquer pessoa de que haja fama ou
-

% December 11, 1635. A [
. 3 etter from Manuel Ramos to the Vi i f
E Mo,,?gesm, Lot o the Viceroy of India, IAN/TT, Livro
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i didos na
prezungio, que possa trazer para si, ou por alguns dos comprehen

dita devassa a dita respondéncia (...)

According to this information, there were two origins where the silver
on respondéncia was coming from, one was from Japan and another was from
Manila. As a well known fact, the Spanish had settled in Manila since the 1570’s
and their trade between Manila and Acapulco had grown with the change of
commodities from China and Southeast Asia, with the silver from America. The
richly laden silver in Manila was introduced to Macao as well as from Japan.
However, the trade between these two regions, officially had been prohibited by
the king of Spain and Portugal to maintain the management of “two” indepen-
dent territories. But these prohibitions were never kept in his far territory.

[Doc.11] November 7, 1633, Archive of Macao Assembly, by Tristdo Tavares

(Arquivo Histérico de Macau, A0216 Leal Senado N. 529, ff. 20-20v.
Arquivos de Macau, Vol. 2, pp. 229-230)

(...) como aque nesta dita cidade se achasse, ser dos ditos Castelhanos, e que
tdobem se pagasse com ella assi com que tomardo elles ditos Castelhanos,
visto ter pago por elles aos Japdes, 23,800 taeis de prata corrente, € isto sem
embargo do protexto que se fez sobre a dita viagem de Manilla (...)

This document in 1633 shows us the fact that the Macao parliament decided
to use the silver invested from Manila, amounting to 23,800 taels to compensate
the debt to the Japanese. In essence, this means that the structure of the move-
ment of silver is not limited only to a straight line between Japan and Macao.
We should place the point of Manila also as an extension of the line. The trade
between Manila and Macao was so important, that Manuel Ramos asked the
viceroy of India to legalize the trade between those two cities in 1635.2°

6. The Reaction of Japanese Authorities and Nagasaki Daikan

As we have already seen above, Suetsugu Heizd was Nagasaki Daikan
(a kind of mayor), and the most rich and influential merchant in Nagasaki at
that same time. He also invested silver into Portuguese ships, but this silver is
considered as “trust fund”, not as one of respondéncia. The specific character of
respondéncia is high interest on loaning, however, he seems to have deposited
silver to Portuguese merchants habitually, to buy raw silk, by taking advantage
of his extremely strong political power. He talks about his trust fund in his two
letters in Portuguese written in 1634 and 1635. It may be assumed safely, that

[

2 [AN/TT, Livro das Mongdes..., Livro 38, fls.196-199v.
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these letters with Heizd’s signatures were translated from Japanese to Portuguese
by the official interpreter of Nagasaki Bugyo (governor), Luis Tavares, for the
coincidence of handwriting. It is clear that he had trusted silver amounting to
10,000 taels every year in 1632, in 1634 and in 1635 from his letters. Further-

more he describes about the Portuguese debt owed to other Japanese merchants,
from the position of governor.

[Doc.12] November 1, 1634, A Letter from Suetsugu Heizo to Macao
Government

(Biblioteca Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid, Legajo 9-7239(2),
ff. 433-437v.)

(...) a prata de respondéncia que os moradores de Macao devem aos merca-
dores japdes, manda el Rey que paguem os moradores de Macao que he
melhoria de 150,000 taeis este anno tudo por inteiro, mas visto ser hurm navio
que a Cidade de Macao n#o ter culpa, por isso se consertou de pagar em trés
annos, e eu fui mieiro nisto, como Dom Gongalo de Silveira Capitdo Mor, e
Feitor e mais portugueses dirdo a Vossa Majestade (...)

This part of the letter in 1634 shows that Tokugawa government had ordered
Portuguese merchants to clear their debt amounting to 150,000 taels, within three
years. This description matches with Cookebacker’s diary in the above chapter 2.
And Heizo himself seems to be in the meeting where the government ordered it.
However, he maintained his favour to the Portuguese in Macao, and gave some
cautions on trade between the two cities.

[Doc. 13] October 25, 1635, A Letter from Suetsugu Heizo to Macao Govern-
ment

(Biblioteca Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid, Legajo 9-7239(2),
ft. 409-409v.)

(...) Considerando os Feitores que essa Cidade manda todos estes annos, me
parece que alguns delles ndo tem as partes que requere este cargo, pello que
sera bom que daqui por diante mande pessoa que as tenha, porque como he
o principal cargo e tudo estd em sua méio, se ndo he homem de muito boas
partes, ndo v€ bem para essa cidade, por este anno ndo tém para tal cargo,
nem outro semelhante a elle. Digo isto, porque em tudo desejo o bem dessa
cidade. Rodrigo Sanchez veio ja a esta terra por Feitor, e me contentou por
me parecer que tém as partes requeridas para tal oficio, pelo que devido Vossa
Majestade daqui por diante mandar homem semelhante a elle (...)

He shows his unsatisfaction with the Feitor in this year and the previous
year, by stating that this position was very important to manage their trade
effectively. He cites Rodrigo Sanchez de Paredes as an ideal Feitor in the past.
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Rodrigo Sanchez de Paredes seems to have been a very close merchant to the
Suetsugu family because he nominates Sanchez de Paredes as a man to work
for him, using his trust silver. Curiously Sanchez de Paredes borrowed silver
amounting to 7,500 taels on respondéncia to the Suetsugu family (Hakata) in
1627 (see bond no.3 in table 1). The relationship between them seems to be
already long lasting.

There is no doubt about the fact that Japanese merchants, who had lent silver
on respondéncia, were not satisfied with the huge amount of Portuguese debts in
the 1630’s, owing to rumor, that Japan would cease trading with the Portuguese.

In Dutch records, there are some descriptions on conflicts between these
Portuguese debtors and Japanese creditors; “there was a Portuguese man who
had a friend that owed 8 boxes of silver to Japanese merchants. They urged him
to pay on behalf of this friend, and the Nagasaki governor (Bugyd) allowed them
to kill when he refused it. Although these Japanese actually tried to kill him, he
cried out furiously and then some other Portuguese paid on his behalf”.3% This
description by a Dutch man shows that the Nagasaki city surroundings were not
favorably disposed anymore by the Portuguese, among citizens or governors.

7. The Silver and Jesuits

As a very well known fact, the Society of Jesus in .Japan apd 4China, had
been involved in trade between these two regions, to sustain the mlssxonary. One
of the most peculiar participations in the trade, was the role of mterqumry of
trading Japanese silver. At the same time it i§ very clear thgt the Jesuits were
involved in respondéncia, as well. Now we will briefly examine how they were

also concerned in the trade.

The Silver in Trust

[Doc. 14]May 11, 1617, A Testimony by O.F.M. Sebastian de San Pedro

(Biblioteca de la Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid, Cortes 566,

ff. 354-377v.)
(...)Asiquediosealo dicho que como el emperador todos los annos embiaba
certa cantidad de plata para que la republica de Macan la emplea se en .trocas
particulares y curiosas y s€ las embiasse. Los Padres de la Compania que
como que a dicho tienen gran parte en la nave y emplea se en grande mano.
Para esto se encargaron desto a esta cuenta son lebado de }_1a01enda del Empe-
rador cargaban todo lo que queren 'y entregaban esta hacienda,aunque SO les

pedio se cuenta.

30 Oranda Shokancho Nikki (Daghregister des Comptoirs nangasacky in Japan), Translation
Version vol. 3-1%, pp. 90-92, Historiographical Institute, University of Tokyo.
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Por menado este anno por estar quebrados con Safioye tomaron le
quenta y no se que se fue que el Emperador y todos no llamaron menos a los
dictos Padres dela Compania que ladrones deciendo que (ilegivel) tomaren
quentas las deron tan malas, que seria tantos errores como no se las averan
tomado, y otras cosas que desdoran el nombre de Religiosos anexas a merca-
deres y contrarias a Religiosos (fls. 370-370v.)

It is clear that “the emperor” of Japan used to deposit his money with
the Jesuits, in order to buy commodities from Macao which he required. “The
emperor” here, does not signify actual emperor (tenno) of Japan, who resides
in Kyoto without any political power. That is Tokugawa leyasu, who had an
actual political power to rule united Japan from 1600, who was considered as the
emperor of Japan by European religious people.

According to this document, Tokugawa leyasu was not used to ask details of
accounts from the Jesuits, but the following years (1610-1611) he asked to show
it, because the Jesuits had conflicts with one of his vassals Hasegawa Sahyoe,
who was in charge of Nagasaki Bugyo. Then, a corruption in their account
book was revealed and Ieyasu was so infuriated, that he blamed them of being
“robbers”. This document by a Franciscan Sebastian de San Pedro, was written,
in order to accuse the Society of Jesus at a point when they had incurred the
distrust of Japanese rulers and caused harsh persecution of Christianity in Japan.
One of the Jesuit executives in Japan and China, Valentin Carvalho S.J. wrote
apologia against Sebastian de San Pedro and cites his description in this apolo-
gia. It shows further information about what happened there.

[Doc. 15] 1615/1616, Valentin Carvalho S.J., Apologia e Resposta Feita pello
Padre Valentim Carvalho

(British Museum London. Add. MSS. 9856)

§77. Ficando Safioye por isso mais aceito ao Imperador tendo por homem
justo e de verdade, e aos Padres pollo contrario, acrecentousse sobre a
mesma causa de mercadorias, que como os padres, segundo fica dito eréo
os que meneavao quasi toda a fazenda da galedo de Macao, e por sua ordem
se embarcava quasi toda, assi o Imperador como os outros muitos 7onos e
Sendres de Japdo, lhes davdo quantidade de prata pera que a empregarem por
sua conta em Macao e em Japao lhes dessem a seda. Por onde como hum anno
tomassem as contar aos Padres de muita prata de Emperador (sic), e da seda
que a conta dessa tinhdo recebido, achar@o grande erro, e quebra. E como o
disessem ao Emperador, e isto caisse ca sobre o que elle tinha dito, que erdo
os Padres enganadores, e mentirosos, e por elle também ser cobisosissimo,
couza que sendo pode crer de homem, que tem muitos milhdes de prata e
ouro a usada que disse elle, e seus privados contra os Padres couzas indignas
de se ouvirem, e que ndo erdo religiosos sendo mercadores mentirozos, e que
se agora que lhes tomavéo conta se achava aquella quebra, que seria os annos
atras quando olha ndo tomavéo e errado o que elles dizido e he de crer, que
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o erro seria de quem tomava a conta polla tomar mal, e melhor fora, que os
Padres ainda que contra razio sospirardo o erro, ou falta que ndo falar se,
mas como cahia esta chuva sobre molhado correo tanto o agastamento, como

vemos hoje.

This document shows that Ieyasu and other daimyds (feudal lords) were
used to deposit silver to Jesuit in order to buy commodities in Macao instead of
them. It is important draw reference, that a system of silver in trust is different
from respondéncia in a sense that it does not require high interest on loaning.
Political rulers preferred to invest their capital to Portuguese traders, through
religious people with trustworthiness. The apologia by Carvalho can be summa-
rised in these points: 1. The silver trusted by daimyos was not handled by the
Jesuits directly but by the Portuguese consigned traders. When they proposed
rulers to cease intervention in the trade, they were menaced to be chased away
from the land. 2. The aim of being an intermediary in the trade, is simply for the
sake of maintenance of the relationship with rulers, and they never looked after
their own interests. 3. The error in accounts was caused by a scheme which was
made by those who were enemies of the Jesuits.

However, other Jesuits reveal later that the defence by Carvalho, might have
been made extemporaneously in order to avoid the blame.?!

The system of silver in trust by feudal lords to the Jesuits, seems to have
been already long lasting, since Japanese rulers were so interested in the benefit
and the precious merchandise of the trade, that they started to accept evangeliza-
tion of Christianity in their lands, during the 16™ century. But it also is true, that
the intervention by the Jesuits in trade, might be one of the reasons that caused a

radical change of diplomacy in the Tokugawa regime.
Respondéncia by Jesuits

In addition to the investment of silver in trust by rulers in Japan, the
Society was apparently concerned with the contracts of respondéncia. According
to Koichiro Takase, it seems to be that in 1612, that Jesuits in Japan, had begun
borrowing silver on respondéncia.®? Takase reveals that Carlo Spinola who
was in charge of procurador33 of the Society of Jesus in Nagasaki (1612-1618)
borrowed silver on respondéncia at least in 1613, 1615, 1617 and 1618. Spinola
explains the reason why the Jesuits went on borrowing silver on respondéncia.
— “The silver on respondéncia which I borrowed here in Nagasaki was wasted in
Macao or sent to China to help the missionary there. As a result, they never sent

31 Mihoko Oka,” A Memoradum by Tg¢uzu Rodrigues: the office of procurador and trade by
the Jesuits in Japan”, Bulletin of Portuguese Japanese Studies, vol. 13, CHAM, UNL, 2006.

32 Koichird Takase, Kirishitan Jidai no Kenkyi, Iwanami Shoten, Tokyo, 1977, pp. 263-331.

33 This position was responsible for the financial management of the Society of Jesus in Japan.
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back to me enough quantity of commodities to pay back for Japanese merchants.
Moreover this silver was used for aids of orphans. That is the reason why I had
to repeat borrowing silver on respondéncia and came to be a multiplex debtor”.34
Takase says, that it is probable that the borrowing of silver on respondéncia by
the Jesuits went on after the death of Spinola (1618) because they had no means
to sustain their missionary work in Japan and China.3?

Francisco Vieira, who was in charge of the visitador, sent by the Society of
Jesus to control the missionary work in Japan and China, left some descriptions
in a regulation book for procurador in Japan and Macao in 1618. The first
version of these regulations was set by visitador Alessandro Valignano S.J.
around 1580, and later visitador Francesco Passio S.J. (1611-1612) and visitador
Francisco Vieira S.J. renewed some items and added others. Valignano and Passio
had not mentioned about the silver on respondéncia, but Vieira refers to it as “the
silver on respondéncia sent from Japan would not be used for other purposes
except purchasing raw silk”, “it is prohibited to borrow silver on respondéncia in
Macao” and “in a case that a responsible Jesuits in the contract of respondéncia
would be caught in Japan for the persecution of Christianity, it is necessary to
ask the payment for a merchant by proxy”.3¢

These descriptions mean that the debts on respondéncia were already an
infuriating problem for them, even then, in 1618. Since the relationship between
the Jesuits and silver on respondéncia is too involved a subject to be examined
here in detail, there will be a more extensive study on it later, in another paper.

Conclusion

The purpose of this paper has been to analyse the system of respon-
déncia in the Macao-Nagasaki trade, at the beginning of the 17 century, by
using historical documents existing in Japan, Macao, Portugal, Spain and the
United Kingdom. The characters of these documents differ from one another, but
all of information extracted from them, indicates to us, a financial system, which
was a truly important topic for the Portuguese and Japanese. Here I would like to
emphasize and sum up some of the points that [ have elaborated on above.

Firstly 1 explained a brief historical process concerning respondéncia
in Macao-Nagasaki trade. It was not a system of silver investment used only
for Portuguese gallions, but also for Japanese red seal ship and Chinese junks.
n =
L. 834112'1 gal;ase, ((irishiran Jidai..., p. 306. Letter from Nagasaki by Carlo Spinola, dated Octo-
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But in Portuguese cases, the interest on loaning was relatively less than other
ships. Although the government of the Estado da India had prohibited silver
borrowing on rates of high interest, the Portuguese in Macao, went on borrowing
silver from Japanese merchants and it became a great debt which contributed
to the conclusion.

Secondly, we have seen some respondéncia bonds in existence. These
bonds are bilingual and remained in families of merchants in Hakata. It means
that Hakata merchants had important and peculiar roles in respondéncia, mainly
as creditors and intermediaries, in the contracts. By combination of those bonds
and other documents like the ones in Arguivos de Macau, the details of these
contracts became clearer. I have pointed out here, that there were two types of
contracts for the Portuguese in Macao, one was individual and the other was
the intensive contract. The intensive contract seems to have been introduced to
compensate individual debts of Macao citizens, but it also became a part of huge
bankruptcy. The reason for the bankruptcy seems to be related with a corrupt
way of running Guangdong market and the instability in trade, with Chinese
local merchants.

Thirdly, we have referred to the fact that the Society of Jesus also took
part in this financial system with high rates of interest, at least since 1612. This
fact shows how they were dependent on the trade between Macao and Japan to
sustain their missionary activity.

In our short study, the subject concerning respondéncia can be mentioned
only summarily, however, I plan to go on writing other articles focusing on
Portuguese commercial activity and the relationship with local merchants in
Estado da India in the near future, as well.

DE LIMAHON (LIN FENG # X,
A KOXINGA (ZHENG CHENGGONG [ 5%, Th):

A REAQCAO PIRATICA SINO-JAPONESA A CONCORRENCIA
IBERICA NA ASIA ORIENTAL (SECULOS XVI-XVII)

MANEL OLLE*

Confrontar a questio da pirataria nos mares da Asia Oriental dos séculos
XV'I € XVII apresenta varios perigos. Surge de imediato uma problematica termi-
nologlca. A utiliza¢do do rétulo de pirata nas fontes historicas esta cheia de
cgpfuséo conceptual, subjectividade nacionalista e vontade estratégica de desle-
gitimagdo de competidores e inimigos.

Para os castelhanos das Filipinas eram piratas todos aqueles que enfrenta-
vam e com que competiam: os mouros de Mindanao,' os holandeses, os chineses
€ japoneses que comerciavam e guerreavam a margem da lei, também os portu-
gues'es provenientes da especiaria das Ilhas Molucas que os assediaram em
Cabu em 1568. Para o império chinés dos Ming eram piratas os portugueses que
comerciavam na regido de “Liampo”, “Chincheo” e outros enclaves costeiros
do spl antgs de estabelecer uma férmula de colaboragdo em Macau em 1557
-e mclus?ve uma boa parte da historiografia chinesa contemporanea sobre <;
tema considera que também apds o estabelecimento de Macau os portugueses
merecem a alcunha de haidao shangren 1 %% A ou shangdao B, que signi-
fica “piratas comerciantes”, baseando-se em consideragdes “anti-imperialistas”?

—_—

* Universitat Pompeu Fabra/CSIC.
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Sintomaticamente, o historiador castelhano do século XIX Vicente Barrantes Moreno, inti-
tulava um es..tudo sobre os confrontos armados entre os castelhanos das Filipinas e os povos mugul-
manos das. 1!h.as como Guerras pirdticas de Filipinas (1570-1806). Vicente Barrantes Moreno
Guerras piraticas en Filipinas (1570-1806), Algazara, Méalaga, 2004. ,

2 Roderich Ptak, China and the Asi
s e Asian seas trade, travel, and visi -
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